
FINAL MINUTES 
REGULAR PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

JUNE 14, 2016 
CORTE MADERA TOWN HALL 

CORTE MADERA 
 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:  Chair Peter Chase 
      Vice-Chair Phyllis Metcalfe    
      Commissioner Dan McCadden 
      Commissioner Bob Bundy 
      Commissioner Nicolo Caldera 
    
STAFF PRESENT:     Adam Wolff, Planning Director 
      Phil Boyle, Senior Planner 
      Doug Bush, Assistant Planner   
      Judith Propp, Town Attorney  
      Joanne O’Hehir, Minutes Recorder 
 
1.  OPENING: 
   

A.  Call to Order – The meeting was called to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
B.  Pledge of Allegiance – Chair Chase led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
C.  Roll Call – All the commissioners were present.  

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT – NONE 

 
3. CONSENT CALENDAR – NONE  
 
4. CONTINUED HEARINGS - NONE 
 
5. NEW HEARINGS 
 

A. 33 MONTECITO DRIVE – MAJOR DESIGN REVIEW 15-029 FOR 
CONVERSION OF A PREVIOUS DENTAL OFFICE TO A SINGLE FAMILY 
RESIDENCE THROUGH A REMODEL OF THE INTERIOR SPACE, 
CONVERSION OF AN EXISTING BASEMENT TO HABITABLE AREA, 
CONVERSION OF AN EXISTING GARAGE TO LIVING SPACE, 
INSTALLATION OF A CARPORT IN THE SIDE YARD (Assistant Planner Doug 
Bush) 
 
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

2 

2 

Assistant Planner Bush presented the staff report. He provided a history of the various 
uses of the property and explained that the applicant is requesting a conversion of the 
property from a dental office to a residential use.  
 
Mr. Bush discussed the existing site plan, noting that the dwelling extends into the 
setback on the south side by approximately 1 ft. He said the proposed site plan does 
not indicate any change to the location of the property, and that it shows a carport and 
enclosed porch. 
 
Mr. Bush discussed the current elevations and the lot, noting that the lower portion of 
the house is beneath grade, and a habitable attic area. He said there is no proposal to 
change the height or elevations and that the colors and materials will match the existing. 
Mr. Bush explained that the proposal is to enclose the porch to increase the living area 
and change the lower level single-car garage into living space. The garage door will be 
removed and replaced with windows. Mr. Bush said a carport will serve as the required 
covered parking space.    
 
Mr. Bush explained that the main changes to the property are to the interior. He said 
that half the lower level is currently habitable and that the applicant is proposing to 
excavate a significant portion of the lower level to make it habitable.  Mr. Bush noted 
that, for this reason, additional retaining walls are necessary and windows and doors to 
provide light, ventilation and meet the building code.  He also said that two gates will be 
installed to allow access for parked vehicles outside the front setback.  
 
Mr. Bush discussed the west and south elevations. He said the changes are significant 
to accommodate the expanded space, including new retaining walls in the south 
elevation to meet egress requirements and windows to provide light to the lower level, 
which he discussed.  
 
Mr. Bush said that an additional 900 sq, ft. of habitable space will be created, of which 
only 200 sq. ft. counts towards FAR for reasons he discussed. He noted that the size of 
the lot does not meet the minimum requirements for the R1 zone, but that the dwelling  
meets all the other required standards, including lot coverage.   
 
Mr. Bush discussed neighborhood outreach and said that staff has not received any 
comments.  
 
Mr. Bush went on to discuss the porch, noting that it would fill a space that is already in 
existence, and the proposed rear sliding doors. He concluded the staff report with a 
discussion of public parking close to the property.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe and Mr. Bush discussed the window well covers.  
 
Commissioner Caldera and Mr. Bush discussed the change in use in relation to the 
zone and the existing non-conformity of the dwelling, which Mr. Bush noted is not being 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

3 

3 

increased. Mr. Wolff said the use will come into conformance albeit the setback will 
remain in non-conformance.  
 
Commissioner McCadden and Mr. Bush discussed how the parking lot to the east 
relates to the application.  Mr. Wolff said the land is zoned for open space/parkland use 
at this time, and that a zoning amendment would be needed to develop the site. 
Commissioner McCadden expressed concern that the residence breaches the front 
setback and Vice-Chair Metcalfe noted that the house was built before zoning codes 
were introduced. Mr. Bush noted that the alteration of the porch is not considered an 
enlargement.  
 
In response to Chair Chase, Mr. Bush said that staff has not received letters of support.  
 
Chris Cook, owner, discussed the application and said their intention is to create 
additional bedrooms. Mr. Cook said their neighbor on the carport side supports their 
project.  
 
Chair Chase discussed information that he would have liked included in the plans.  
 
Mr. Bundy asked Mr. Cook if they had considered a different design because the porch 
is an attractive feature of the house. In response, Mr. Cook said they need the 
additional space for a master bedroom. 
 
Chair Chase and Mr. Cook discussed the amount of demolition that will be necessary.  
 
Chair Chase opened and then closed the public comment period when no one came 
forward to speak. 
 
Commissioner Caldera said he could approve the project; that an effort has been 
maintained to retain the character of design. However, he said that a plan showing the 
location of adjacent structures would have been helpful.  
 
Commissioner McCadden expressed his concern that the proposal includes the removal 
of a garage. In response, Mr. Bush said that the R1 zone requires two parking spaces, 
one of which must be covered, and that the proposal meets the Town’s requirements.  
 
In response to Commissioner McCadden, Mr. Bush discussed the reasons a landscape 
plan was not submitted as part of the packet. They also discussed the conversion of the 
porch to living space and Mr. Bush noted that a variance is not required because there 
is not an increase in non-conformance and a porch is considered to be floor area.  Mr. 
Wolff noted that enclosing porches are not common but are not precluded by the code. 
Commissioner McCadden discussed his concern with converting non-conforming space 
to livable space.  
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

4 

4 

Vice-Chair Metcalfe discussed the reasons she can support the project, noting that the 
changes are mainly interior based and for this reason is not especially concerned about 
the absence of a landscape plan.   
 
In response to Commissioner Bundy, Mr. Bush clarified the reasons covered porches 
are included in FAR and lot coverage, noting that the first 40 feet are exempt.  
Commissioner Bundy said the project is a good plan and will provide more parking in an 
area where parking is at a premium.  
 
Chair Chase discussed the reasons he believes the front of the property will be 
impacted by construction, and also a tree in the back yard that is close to the 
foundation. For these reasons, he would favor the submission of a landscape plan and 
also a lighting plan.  Chair Chase expressed concern that the removal of the porch 
constitutes a loss of historical detail. He also believes that the placement of garbage 
cans should be noted on the drawings.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe suggested a balcony detail, while Commissioner Caldera said the 
building is not sufficiently interesting and that he would approve the project as 
submitted.  
 
The commissioners discussed the necessity of a landscape plan and Commissioner 
McCadden said he agreed with Chair Chase that the integrity of the design would be 
affected with the removal of the porch.  
 
Commissioner Caldera and Mr. Wolff discussed the necessity of the provision of 
irrigation for the landscaping and Mr. Wolff explained that the requirement usually 
relates to the amount of pervious surfaces that are proposed.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe discussed a front façade design that would not be acceptable, and 
Commissioner Bundy discussed designs that might be favorable.  
 

MOTION:  Motioned by Commissioner McCadden to continue design review 15-
029 for conversion of a previous dental office to a single family residence through 
a remodel of the interior space, conversion of an existing basement to habitable 
area, conversion of an existing garage to living space, installation of a carport in 
the side yard with the added conditions that a landscape plan, with irrigation, is 
provided, the location of trash cans are identified on the plans, and that a revised 
front elevation that includes the porch is provided.   
 

Commissioner McCadden withdrew the motion when it was not seconded.  
 
MOTION:  Motioned by Commissioner McCadden, seconded by Commissioner 
Bundy to continue design review 15-029 for conversion of a previous dental 
office to a single family residence through a remodel of the interior space, 
conversion of an existing basement to habitable area, conversion of an existing 
garage to living space, and installation of a carport in the side yard in order for 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

5 

5 

the applicant to submit a new application that includes a revised front property 
elevation, a complete landscape plan, including irrigation, a lighting plan and 
identifying the location of the trash cans on the plans, to a date uncertain: 

 
AYES: Metcalfe, Bundy, Chase, McCadden 
NOES: Caldera  

 
 

B. CORTE MADERA TOWN CENTER – PRECISE PLAN AMENDMENT NO. PL-
2016-0060 TO MODIFY FOUR STORE FRONTS JUST NORTH OF THE TOWN 
CENTER’S WEST ENTRY, INCLUDING REPLACING THE EXISTING FABRIC 
AWNINGS WITH THREE DIFFERENT AWNINGS TYPES, NEW SIDING AND 
NEW EXTERIOR LIGHTING. (Senior Planner Phil Boyle) 

 
Senior Planner Boyle presented the staff report. Mr. Boyle explained that the request to 
amend the Precise Plan consists of the modification to four store fronts at the west 
entry, between Wells Fargo and Safeway. He said the changes should provide greater 
articulation with the addition of cornices and window details. Mr. Boyle noted the height 
will not change and that a materials board has been provided. He said that any sign 
changes will be requested under a separate application.  
 
Mr. Boyle said that landscaping is not included in the application, but that there is an 
exterior lighting plan, which will be night-sky compliant with LED outdoor sconces, and 
will also be on dimmers and timers. Mr. Boyle concluded the staff report by confirming 
staff can make the findings to approve the Precise Plan Amendment and recommend 
that the Planning Commission does the same.  
 
Carl Okazaki, 505 Design, explained that the changes are to the vertical surfaces on the 
storefront; that the height, width and footprint will not change. Mr. Okazaki said they 
wish to enhance the west entry with the use of materials to create visual interest and 
that a number of tenants are turning over and are not in a position to go through a major 
renovation.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe said she likes design and colors and that the changes will be an 
improvement.  
 
Commissioner Bundy and Mr. Okazaki discussed second floor windows above the 
cleaners, which Mr. Okazaki said would provide balance to the design. In response to 
Mr. Bundy, Mr. Okazaki confirmed the paving and mural will remain.  
 
Commissioner Caldera and Mr. Okazaki discussed a new material that is being 
introduced.  
 
In response to Chair Chase, Mr. Okazaki confirmed the awnings above Radio Shack will 
be removed to provide more visibility, although there may be a preference for new 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

6 

6 

awnings should there be a change of tenant. Mr. Okazaki said the landscaping in front 
of Radio Shack will remain.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe and Mr. Okazaki discussed the Radio Shack design.  
 
Chair Chase opened and then closed the public comment period when no one came 
forward to speak. 
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe said she could make the findings to approve the project; that the 
changes are a positive improvement.  
 
Commissioner Bundy said he thought it is a nice design; that the existing awnings look 
dated and faded, and that this is a nice upgrade, which he supports. Commissioners 
Caldera and McCadden expressed their approval of the project.  
  
  MOTION: Motioned by Commissioner Caldera, seconded by Vice-Chair 

Metcalfe, to approve Precise Plan Amendment No. PL-2016-0060 to modify four 
store fronts just north of the town center’s west entry, including replacing the 
existing fabric awnings with three different awnings types, new siding and new 
exterior lighting with the findings and conditions in the staff report: 

 
  AYES:  Metcalfe, Bundy, Chase, McCadden, Caldera 
 
Senior Planner Boyle read the appeal rights.  
 
6. BUSINESS ITEMS  
  

A. TAMAL VISTA CORRIDOR STUDY – REVIEW AND CONSIDERATION OF 
FORWARDING THE DRAFT TAMAL VISTA CORRIDOR REPORT, WITH ANY 
RECOMMENDED CHANGES OR COMMENTS, TO TOWN COUNCIL, FOR ITS 
REVIEW. (Planning Director Adam Wolff) 

 
Planning Director Wolff presented the staff report. Mr. Wolff introduced the consultant, 
Dave Javid of M Group, whom he said has participated in developing the draft Tamal 
Vista Corridor Report. He explained the purpose of tonight’s discussions is for the 
commissioners to review the draft report, and make any recommendations, comments 
or improvements to the report before the Town Council’s review.  
 
Mr. Wolff discussed the approval process, including formally noticed public hearings, 
where any land use regulations would be implemented and CEQA analysis undertaken. 
He discussed the components of the report, including an outreach summary and 
recommendations section. Mr. Wolff noted that not all the recommendations were 
unanimously supported during the outreach process, particularly those relating to 
housing and a higher FAR, which he discussed.  
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

7 

7 

Mr. Wolff discussed permitted land uses, including allowing residential as a conditionally 
permitted use. He discussed the reasons staff believes the corridor currently has the 
characteristics of a mixed use area and would be appropriate for housing because of 
accessibility to residential services, including transportation and public trails.  
 
Mr. Wolff went on to discuss the recommendations concerning density, including 
allowing an FAR of .34 for commercial uses only. He said that staff would recommend 
combining this FAR with residential uses of a maximum of 15.1 units per acre for 
reasons he discussed, which included the ability to maintain control over the mass and 
scale of residential developments and the number of units that would be allowed on a 
site.  
 
Mr. Wolff discussed a third density option, which would be to consider increasing the 
allowable FAR to .5. He discussed the reasons staff would suggest further analysis to 
define the kind of uses that might be appropriate for increased density.  
 
Mr. Wolff discussed the recommendations for development standards, including setback 
areas for increased pedestrian and bicycle access. He discussed the option to create 
three zones, called the Pedestrian Zone, Neighborhood Zone, and a Higher Intensity 
Zone, which would allow more massing and bulk near the highway. Mr. Wolff noted that 
FAR and other size controls would still apply.   
 
Mr. Wolff discussed lighting and landscape standard recommendations, noting that 
there are unique sites that might need different treatment, including the Corte Madera 
Inn, which has two frontages. Mr. Wolff explained that the object of the streetscape 
design guidelines is to make them consistent conditions.  
 
Mr. Wolff discussed concerns about traffic throughout the process. Staff’s 
recommendations would include project-specific traffic analyses and supporting projects 
for improved traffic circulation, which he discussed.  
 
Mr. Wolff noted the provision of public comments that have been received since the 
staff report was issued.   
 
Mr. Wolff discussed the next steps in the process which would be to implement the 
recommendations and move towards Zoning Ordinance amendments.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe and Mr. Wolff discussed uses in the C3 Zone, allowing residential 
uses under a conditional use permit and allowing an FAR of .5. Mr. Wolff noted that 5 of 
the 7 properties in the area under consideration have greater FARs than .34.  
 
Commissioner Bundy discussed his support of a standard streetscape plan, the 
undergrounding of utilities, and creating a pedestrian/bike path along Tamal Vista. 
However, he asked how projects could be financed and if an increased FAR is 
necessary to provide economic benefit for projects. In response, Mr. Wolff said that 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

8 

8 

funding is not a consideration, but the purpose is to develop improved streetscape 
standards that can be implemented as property development takes place.  
 
Counsellor Propp noted that the Tamal Vista Plan would be phased in as development 
occurs or if funding becomes available.  
 
Commissioner Bundy commented on his preference for the improvements to take place 
at a definite time, rather than in a piecemeal fashion.  
 
Chair Chase opened the public comment period.   
 
Barbara Becker, Council Crest Drive, said the focus should be on Tamal Vista, which 
she said was not designed to be a major north-south thoroughfare.  She said the road is 
not sufficiently wide and cannot support any more traffic. Ms. Becker questioned the 
ability to add a bike path and asked that setbacks are required for future development 
on Tamal Vista.  
 
Jack Jackowski, owner of the Market Place shopping center, discussed the challenges 
of permitted uses in the C3 zone and said he is pleased with the direction being 
considered. Mr. Jackowski commented on the focus towards community uses and the 
ability of businesses such as Book Passage to conform to the code. He said that the 
uses being considered for C1, C2 and C3 apply to what they are trying to achieve at the 
shopping center, which he discussed.  
 
Chair Chase closed the public comment period.  
 
In response to Vice-Chair Metcalfe, Mr. Wolff responded to correspondence that had 
been received regarding egress to the Tamal Vista units. He said that allowing south 
bound traffic to use Nellen Avenue should alleviate vehicular problems with egress to 
the property.  
  
In response to Commissioner Bundy, Mr. Wolff said that staff would need to undertake 
an analysis to determine the FAR range for the C1 and C2 zoning districts.  
 
Commissioner McCadden and Mr. Wolff discussed allowing residential development as 
a conditional use, rather than by right. Mr. Wolff said there was concern about 
developing residential uses close to the highway and that the requirement would enable 
the Town to study the specific use requested.  Mr. Wolff confirmed that density would 
remain the same if a higher FAR is chosen.  
 
Chair Chase and Mr. Wolff discussed the recommendation of a 20 foot front setback, 
which Mr. Wolff noted was part of the discussions on the Corte Madera Inn project and 
related to the pedestrian and streetscape enhancement plans.  
 
Chair Chase discussed the potential for including a bike lane on one side of the road 
and a buffer zone. He noted that the report does not include the possibility of acquiring 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

9 

9 

additional land, which he discussed.  Mr. Wolff discussed a grant application for a 
bicycle and pedestrian master plan on Tamal Vista. He noted the Town is working on 
conceptual plans.  
 
Chair Chase led a discussion on whether the allowable FAR of .34 should be increased 
and under what circumstances a higher FAR should be allowed. Mr. Javid noted that 
staff has not set parameters and Mr. Wolff suggested allowing additional FAR for certain 
uses that might be beneficial, which he discussed.  
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe discussed the desirability of allowing commercial space on a first 
floor and live/work units above, and she referred to a specific project on Miller Avenue, 
Mill Valley.  
 
Commissioner Bundy said he supports staff’s recommendations to allow residential 
development in addition to commercial uses to serve the locals.  
 
Commissioner McCadden discussed the importance of establishing whether a traffic 
issue exists, since he believes that it would be inadvisable to increase the FAR if a 
problem exists.  
 
Mr. Wolff discussed the reasons he believes the stretch of property under discussion is 
not solely responsible for traffic problems, and Commissioner McCadden discussed the 
reasons he believes that an analysis is necessary in order to find solutions for traffic 
issues. He would recommend leaving the FAR at .34, which should only be increased 
after a traffic study has confirmed that there is capacity. Commissioner McCadden 
noted that the area is suitable for housing, given there are nearby transportation 
options.  
 
Commissioner Caldera said that a traffic problem exists along the corridor and he 
commented on the amount of noise from the Highway that would affect residential 
housing nearby. He said the noise is constant and the freeway generates heat and 
pollution as well, and that he would favor a buffer zone between the freeway and 
housing for residential uses. Otherwise, he said the report offers a variety of options and 
has been well crafted. However, he said he would not favor residential housing 
development, especially adjacent to the freeway.   
 
Commissioner Bundy commented on the FAR depending on the type of use for a 
building, and noted that traffic and parking studies would be undertaken for individual 
applications. Thus, he said he could support an FAR of .5 depending on the traffic 
pattern that would be determined at that time. 
 
Vice-Chair Metcalfe commented on the need for traffic studies before deciding upon an 
FAR of  .5.  
 
Mr. Wolff noted that the analysis would be different for an FAR of .34 compared to an 
FAR of .5.  



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

10 

10 

 
Chair Chase said that, without traffic studies, the commissioners cannot recommend an 
FAR of .5 to the Town Council.  
 
There was general consensus that the recommended height is acceptable with a 
conditional use permit for residential uses and maintaining an FAR of .34 until further 
traffic studies are able to confirm that .5 is acceptable.  Commissioner Bundy discussed 
the reasons he could support an FAR of .5. 
  
7. ROUTINE AND OTHER MATTERS 
 

A. REPORTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 
 

i. Commissioners 
 
Chair Chase reported on his attendance of the June 6th Town Council meeting, where 
there was a discussion on Plan Bay Area and future consideration of Airbnb. He noted 
that some towns have made Airbnb illegal. Commissioner Chase also noted that the 
Planning Commission will be considering Junior Second Units.  
 

ii. Planning Director 
 
Planning Director Wolff commented on the Town’s centenary celebrations and noted 
that he will not be attending the June 28th Planning Commission meeting, when Town 
Manager Bracken will be addressing encroachment permits in the Town’s right of way.  

 
iii. Tentative Agenda Items for June 28, 2016 Planning Commission Meeting 

 
1. DISCUSSION OF ENCROACHMENTS ONTO TOWN RIGHTS OF 

WAY AND TOWN-OWNED (BUSINESS ITEM) – DISCUSSION WITH 
DAVE BRACKEN, TOWN MANAGER 

2. VERIZON STORE AT THE VILLAGE, 1500 REDWOOD HWY – 
TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AND STORE FRONT CHANGES TO 
ACCOMMODATE NEW VERIZON WIRELESS STORE. 

3. 220 GRANADA DRIVE – MAJOR DEISGN REVIEW PL-2016-0037 
FOR THE DEMOLITION OF AN EXISTING ONE STORY RESIDENCE 
AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW TWO STORY SINGLE 
FAMILY RESIDENCE. 

4. 122 GROVE AVENUE – PRELIMINARY STUDY SESSION FOR THE 
DEMOLITION OF AN EXISTING TWO LEVEL RESIDENCE AND THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW THREE LEVEL SINGLE FAMILY 
RESIDENCE      AT 122 GROVE AVENUE.  

 
B.   MINUTES 
 



Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
June 14, 2016 
 
 

 

11 

11 

i. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes of May 10, 2016  
 
Page 8, second paragraph: “pedestrian crossing flags” in place of “orange flags”. 
 

ii. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes of May 24, 2016 
 
Page 1: “Tom McHugh” amended to read “Bob Bundy” 
 

MOTION:  Motioned by Vice-Chair Metcalfe, seconded by Commissioner 
Caldera, to approve the minutes of May 10, 2016, and May 24, 2016, with 
amendments:  

 
AYES: Metcalfe, Bundy, Chase, McCadden, Caldera 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
A motion was made, seconded and unanimously approved to adjourn the meeting at 
11:05 p.m. 
 
 


